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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Guardian Media Limited and its subsidiaries 
(“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, 
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including material accounting policy information.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group 
in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (“IESBA”) International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) 
(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA 
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. 
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit 
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our 
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Key Audit Matters (continued) 
 
Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Estimation uncertainty involved in 
impairment testing of goodwill and other 
intangibles with indefinite lives 
 

 

Refer to related disclosures in notes 3 and 6, and 
accounting policy note 2 (xxii) to the 
consolidated financial statements. As described 
in these notes, impairment tests are performed 
annually on goodwill and certain indefinite life 
licences. 
 
As required by IAS 36: “Impairment of Assets”, 
management performed an impairment test on 
these assets. Based on the impairment test 
performed during the year, no impairment was 
recorded in 2023.  
 
Impairment tests on goodwill and other 
intangibles involve significant estimation and 
the application of a high level of judgement 
relative to key assumptions such as the 
applicable discount rate and future cash-flows.  
 
In determining future cash-flow projections, 
management uses assumptions and estimates in 
respect of future market conditions, future 
economic growth, expected market share and 
gross margins. The outcome of the impairment 
testing is sensitive to these assumptions and 
estimates, such that changes in these 
assumptions/estimates may result in different 
impairment test conclusions. 

Our audit procedures focused on the assessment of 
the key assumptions utilized by management 
including the cash-flow projections and the 
discount rate. We also evaluated whether the value 
in use impairment test model met the requirements 
of IAS 36.  
 
To this end our procedures included, amongst 
others, evaluating and testing the assumptions, 
methodologies, Cash Generating Unit (CGU) 
determination, discount rate and other key data used 
by management.  We also assessed the assumptions 
by comparing to historical performance of the 
entity, local economic conditions and other 
alternative independent sources of information.  In 
so doing we evaluated the sensitivity of the key 
assumptions to reasonable possible changes which 
could cause the carrying amount of the CGU to 
exceed its recoverable amount. 
 
We involved our EY valuation specialist to assist 
with our audit of the impairment test model, 
including the cash flows, discount rate and long-
term growth rates.  
 
We also assessed the appropriateness of the 
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, with reference to that prescribed by 
IFRSs. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Other information included in the Group’s 2023 Annual Report 
 
Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2023 Annual Report, other than 
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for 
the other information. The Group’s 2023 Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the 
date of this auditor’s report. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and the Audit Committee for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 
 
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
 
The engagement partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mrs. 
Adrienne D’Arcy. 
 
 
 
 
Port of Spain, 
TRINIDAD: 
11 March 2024 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 

 

 

   31 December 

 Notes 2023 2022 

Assets  $ $ 
 

Non–current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 4  62,351 65,696 

Investment property 5  1,247 1,383 

Intangible assets 6  15,984 16,792 

Right-of-use assets 7  6,433 9,978 

Employee benefits asset 8  107,128 107,531 

Deferred tax asset 9 5,501 2,519 

Investment securities 12      4,511     4,401 

 

   203,155 208,300 

Current assets 

Inventories 10  6,818 9,089 

Trade and other receivables 11  27,045 40,963 

Taxation recoverable   411 162 

Cash and short–term deposits 13   77,824   75,991 
 

   112,098 126,205 
 

TOTAL ASSETS  315,253 334,505 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 
 
 

 Notes 2023 2022 

 $ $ 
 

Revenue 16   99,343 117,788 
 

(Loss)/profit from operating activities 16 (9,876) 4,616 

Finance costs 17      (726)       (733) 
  

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (10,602) 3,883 

Taxation 18     1,984    (1,421) 
 

(Loss)/profit for the year     (8,618)     2,462 
 

Other comprehensive loss: 
 

Other comprehensive loss that may be 

  reclassified to profit in subsequent periods: 

Exchange differences on translation of 

  foreign operation (54) (101) 

Other movements           –          62 
 

Other comprehensive loss that may be 

  reclassified to profit in subsequent periods        (54)        (39) 
 

Other comprehensive loss not to be reclassified 

  to profit in subsequent periods: 

Re–measurement loss on  

  defined benefit plans 8 (3,607) (7,421) 

Income tax effect 9    1,082     2,226 
 

Other comprehensive loss not to be reclassified 

  to profit in subsequent periods    (2,525)    (5,195) 
 

Total other comprehensive loss 

  for the year, net of tax   (2,579)    (5,234) 
 

Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax  (11,197)    (2,772) 
 

Earnings per share 

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share 24   ($0.22)     $0.06 

(Expressed in $ per share) 
 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 

 

 

 Stated Treasury Other Retained Total 

 capital shares reserve earnings equity 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

 

Year ended 31 December 2023 

 

Balance at 1 January 2023 27,288 (1,554) 167 228,263 254,164 

 

Loss for the year – – – (8,618) (8,618) 

Other comprehensive loss – – (54) (2,525) (2,579) 

Dividends  (Note 19)          –         –        –    (1,688)    (1,688) 

 

Balance at 31 December 2023 27,288 (1,554)    113 215,432 241,279 

 

Year ended 31 December 2022 

 

Balance at 1 January 2022 27,288 (1,554) 268 233,822 259,824 

 

Profit for the year – – – 2,462 2,462 

Other comprehensive loss – – (101) (5,133) (5,234) 

Dividends  (Note 19)          –         –        –    (2,888)    (2,888) 

 

Balance at 31 December 2022 27,288 (1,554)    167 228,263 254,164 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 

 

 

  2023 2022 

 Notes $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities 

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (10,602) 3,883 

Adjustments to reconcile income before taxation to 

  net cash generated from operating activities: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 & 5 9,445 9,889 

Depreciation of right-to-use-assets 7 3,849 3,523 

Amortisation 6 808 991 

Net change in employee benefits asset/obligation  (3,490) (3,351) 

Unrealised gain on revaluation of investment securities  (110) (70) 

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (140) 350 

Interest and investment income  (1,404) (773) 

Finance cost 17 726 733 

Foreign exchange loss  28 33 

Other movements          (76)        (31) 

 

Operating (loss)/income before working capital changes  (966) 15,177 

Decrease in inventories  2,271 924 

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  13,918 (10,215) 

Decrease in trade and other payables     (1,406)   (5,064) 

 

Cash generated from operations  13,817 822 

 

Interest received  1,404 92 

Interest paid  (726) (733) 

Taxation paid     (1,293)   (3,777) 

 

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities    13,202   (3,596) 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 

(Continued) 

 

 

  2023 2022 

 Notes $ $ 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Proceeds from sale of assets  161  

Purchase of fixed deposits  (1,340) – 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4  (6,288)   (4,534) 

 

Net cash used in investing activities   (7,467)   (4,534) 

 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities  (3,554) (3,513) 

Dividends paid 19  (1,688)   (2,888) 

 

Net cash used in financing activities   (5,242)   (6,401) 

 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  493 (14,531) 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  17,051  31,582 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  13 17,544  17,051 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 

 

 

1. Incorporation and principal activities 

 

Guardian Media Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in 

1917 and continued on 21 November 1997 under the Companies Act, 1995, in the Republic 

of Trinidad and Tobago. Effective 26 April 2010, the Company changed its name to 

Guardian Media Limited (formerly Trinidad Publishing Company Limited). The Company 

operates in Trinidad and Tobago and is a subsidiary of ANSA McAL Limited (the 

“Ultimate Parent”), which is a public company that owns 51% of the issued stated capital 

of the Company. The registered office of the Company is at 22-24 St. Vincent Street, Port 

of Spain. Guardian Media Limited is the parent company of Wonderland Entertainment 

Limited and iRadio Inc. The Company has a primary listing on the Trinidad and Tobago 

Stock Exchange. 

 

Guardian Media Limited and its consolidated Subsidiaries (‘the Group’) consist of the 

parent company, Guardian Media Limited and its 100% owned subsidiaries, Wonderland 

Entertainment Limited and iRadio Inc. The Group is the publisher of the Trinidad Guardian 

and the Sunday Guardian, and also provides printing services for other publishers. The 

Group purchased the operating assets and liabilities of Trinidad Broadcasting Company 

Limited and Prime Radio Limited on 1 May 1998 and acquired a 100% share of 

Wonderland Entertainment Limited on 9 August 2011. On the 12 September 2014, the 

Group acquired a licence to operate the 99.5 F.M. radio frequency, which was approved by 

the Telecommunications Authority of Trinidad and Tobago (“TATT”). As a condition of 

the concession the Group surrendered the 730 A.M. frequency. On 24 August 2015 the 

Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of iRadio Inc., a company registered and 

operating in the Republic of Guyana.  

 

The Group currently operates six (6) broadcasting stations, 95.1 F.M. The Best Mix, the 

Vibe CT105 F.M., Sangeet 106.1 F.M., Freedom 106.5 F.M. SLAM 100.5 F.M. and Sky 

Radio 99.5 F.M. in the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago and Mix 90.1 in the Republic of 

Guyana. The Group is also the operator of a television station, CNC3, whose inaugural 

feed began on 26 September 2005.  

 

Wonderland Entertainment Limited is incorporated and resident in Trinidad and Tobago, 

and has no trading activities in 2023. Its main asset is the radio licence. iRadio Inc. is 

incorporated and resident in the Republic of Guyana and the results of its operations and 

related assets and liabilities have been fully consolidated as explained in Note 2 (ii). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 
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2. Material accounting policy information 

 

i) Basis of preparation 

 

These consolidated financial statements are expressed in thousands of Trinidad and 

Tobago dollars (except when otherwise indicated) and have been prepared on a 

historical cost basis except for the measurement at fair value of certain financial 

assets measured at fair value through income. 

 

Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

 

Presentation of financial statements 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in 

the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position if there is a currently enforceable 

legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 

net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. Income and 

expenses are not offset in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss 

unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, and as 

specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group. 

 

Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 

Position based on current/non-current classification. An asset is current when it is: 

 

• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal 

operating cycle; 

• Held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to 

settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 

 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

i) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

Current versus non-current classification (continued) 

A liability is current when: 
 

• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle; 

• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at 

least twelve months after the reporting period 
 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 
 

ii) Basis of consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of 

Guardian Media Limited and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Group 

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 
 

• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability 

to direct the relevant activities of the investee); 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 

investee; and 

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 
 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an 

investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing 

whether it has power over an investee, including: 
 

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; 

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

ii) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and 

circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements 

of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control 

over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. 

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 

during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 

the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are 

attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling 

interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 

to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All 

intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating 

to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on 

consolidation. 

 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is 

accounted for as an equity transaction.  

 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets 

(including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of 

equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any 

investment retained is recognised at fair value. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

iii) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group's 

annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, except for the 

adoption of new standards and interpretations below. 

 

New and amended standards and interpretations 
 

Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments to IAS 8 

 

The amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting 

estimates, changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. They also 

clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting 

estimates. 

 

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the 

Group.   
 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice 

Statement 2 
 

The amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality 

Judgements provide guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality 

judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities 

provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the 

requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a 

requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding guidance on 

how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting 

policy disclosures. 

 

The amendments have had an impact on the Group’s disclosures of accounting 

policies, but not on the measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in 

the Group’s financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

iii) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 
 

New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) 

 

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12 

 

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Tax narrow the scope of the initial recognition 

exception, so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable 

and deductible temporary differences such as leases and decommissioning 

liabilities. 

 

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the 

Group. 

 

International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments to IAS 12  

 

The amendments to IAS 12 have been introduced in response to the OECD’s BEPS 

Pillar Two rules and include: 

 

• A mandatory temporary exception to the recognition and disclosure of 

deferred taxes arising from the jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar 

Two model rules; and  

• Disclosure requirements for affected entities to help users of the financial 

statements better understand an entity’s exposure to Pillar Two income 

taxes arising from that legislation, particularly before its effective date.  

 

The mandatory temporary exception – the use of which is required to be disclosed 

applies immediately. The remaining disclosure requirements apply for annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, but not for any interim 

periods ending on or before 31 December 2023.  

 

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the 

Group. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

iii) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 

 

Standards issued but not yet effective 
 

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet 

effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are 

disclosed below. The Group is currently assessing the potential impact of these new 

standards and interpretations and will adopt them when they become effective. 

 

• Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-

current – Effective 1 January 2024 
 

• Supplier Finance Arrangements – Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 – 

Effective 1 January 2024 
 

• Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback – 

Effective 1 January 2024 
 

iv) Leases 
 

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. 

That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for 

a period of time in exchange for consideration.  

 

Group as a lessee  

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, 

except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises 

lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the 

right to use the underlying assets. 
 

i) Right-of-use assets 
 

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the 

lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use 

assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.  
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

iv) Leases (continued) 

 

Group as a lessee (continued) 
 

i) Right-of-use assets (continued) 
 

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of the initial lease 

liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made 

on or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter 

of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: 

 

Land and building 3 to 10 years 

Motor vehicles 4 years 

 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease 

term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is 

calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 

 

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the 

accounting policies in Note 2 (xxii). 

 

ii) Lease liability 

 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease 

liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over 

the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in 

substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable 

lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to 

be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include 

the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by 

the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease 

term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. 

 

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are 

recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in 

the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.  
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

iv) Leases (continued) 
 

Group as a lessee (continued) 

 

ii) Lease liability (continued) 

 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its 

incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest 

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 

commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 

the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In 

addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 

modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments 

(e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate 

used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an 

option to purchase the underlying asset. 
 

iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-

term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease 

term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain 

a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition 

exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered of low value. 

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are 

recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

 

Group as a lessor 

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income 

arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included 

in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct 

costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 

carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same 

basis as rental income. 

 

Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.  
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

v) Property, plant and equipment  

 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation 

and/or accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of 

replacing part of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-

term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts 

of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group 

recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates 

them accordingly. All other repairs and maintenance costs are recognised in the 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. 

 

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis at rates estimated to write-off the 

assets over their expected useful lives. The estimated useful lives of assets are 

reviewed periodically, taking account of commercial and technological 

obsolescence as well as normal wear and tear, and the depreciation rates are 

adjusted if appropriate. Land and capital work in progress are not depreciated. 

 

Depreciation is provided on the straight line basis at the following rates:- 

 

Freehold buildings 2% 

Plant, station equipment and machinery 3.33% – 33% 

Office furniture and equipment 10% – 25% 

 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no 

future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 

arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of asset) is included in the Consolidated 

Statement of Comprehensive Loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

vi) Investment property 

 

Investment properties principally comprise office buildings and land not occupied 

by the Group, which are held for long term rental yields and capital appreciation. 

Investment properties are classified as non-current assets and carried at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

 

Approximately 24% (2022: 24%) of the Group’s property on 22-24 St. Vincent 

Street, Port of Spain is available for long-term rental yields. The Group occupies 

the remainder of space. That apportionment available for rental is classified as 

Investment Property. 

 

Building is depreciated on a straight-line basis at a rate of 2% per annum. Land is 

not depreciated. 

 

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of (i.e., 

at the date the recipient obtains control) or when they are permanently withdrawn 

from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The 

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 

is recognised in profit or loss in the period of derecognition. The amount of 

consideration to be included in the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of 

investment property is determined in accordance with the requirements for 

determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.  

 

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in 

use. If owner occupied property becomes investment property, the Group accounts 

for such property in accordance with the policy under property, plant and equipment 

up to the date of change in use. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

vii) Business combinations and goodwill 

 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of 

an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, 

measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling 

interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether 

to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the 

proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs 

incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses. 

 

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of 

activities and assets include an input and a substantive process that together 

significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.  The acquired process is 

considered substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue producing outputs,  

and the inputs acquired include an organised workforce with the necessary skills, 

knowledge, or experience to perform that process or it significantly contributes to 

the ability to continue producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce or 

cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue 

producing outputs. 
 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities 

assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the 

contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 

acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host 

contracts by the acquiree. 

 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised 

at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is 

not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial 

instrument and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at 

fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss 

in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the 

scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair 

value recognised in profit or loss. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

vii) Business combinations and goodwill (continued) 

 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the 

consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interest 

over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of 

the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the 

Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and 

all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the 

amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in 

an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration 

transferred, then the gain is recognised in the profit or loss. 
 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 

impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a 

business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s 

cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, 

irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to 

those units. 

 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the 

operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation 

disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining 

the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this 

circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of 

and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

 

viii) Financial instruments 

 

Date of recognition 

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date 

that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This 

includes regular way trades: purchases or sales of financial assets that require 

delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or 

convention in the marketplace. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

viii) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Initial measurement of financial instruments 

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their 

contractual terms and the business model for managing the instruments, as 

described below. Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value (as 

defined in Note 22), except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities 

recorded at FVPL, transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount. 

Trade receivables are measured at the transaction price. 

 

The Group classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for 

managing the assets and the asset’s contractual terms, measured at either amortised 

cost, FVOCI or FVPL, as explained in Note 2 (ix) below. 

 

ix) Financial assets and liabilities 
 

Financial investments at amortised cost 

The Group only measures financial investments at amortised cost if both of the 

following conditions are met: 

 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold 

financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal 

amount outstanding. 

 

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade and other receivables. 

 

Debt instruments at FVOCI 

The Group applies the categorisation of debt instruments measured at FVOCI when 

both of the following conditions are met: 
 

• The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is 

achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and 

losses arising due to changes in fair value recognised in OCI. Interest income and 

foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the same 

manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The Group held no assets 

categorised as FVOCI as at 31 December 2023. 

 

Equity instruments at FVOCI 

Upon initial recognition, the Group occasionally elects to classify irrevocably some 

of its equity investments as equity instruments at FVOCI when they meet the 

definition of Equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not 

held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument 

basis. 

 

Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to profit. Dividends 

are recognised in profit or loss as other operating income when the right of the 

payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds 

as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which case, such gains are 

recorded in OCI. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment 

assessment. The Group held no assets categorised as Equity instruments at FVOCI 

as at 31 December 2023. 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Investments in equity instruments are classified as fair value through profit or loss 

unless the Group designates an investment that is not held for trading as fair value 

through OCI on initial recognition. The Group has designated the investments in 

equity instrument that are held for trading as fair value through profit or loss on 

initial application of IFRS 9. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

(continued) 

Management only designates an instrument at FVPL upon initial recognition when 

one of the following criteria are met. Such designation is determined on an 

instrument-by-instrument basis: 

 

• The designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent 

treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities 

or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis; or 

• The liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities (or financial assets, 

or both under IAS 39), which are managed and their performance evaluated 

on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or 

investment strategy; or 

• The liabilities containing one or more embedded derivatives, unless they do 

not significantly modify the cash flows that would otherwise be required by 

the contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis when a similar instrument 

is first considered that separation of the embedded derivative(s) is 

prohibited. 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the consolidated 

statement of financial position at fair value. 
 

  



GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 

(Continued) 

 

 

 29 

2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities 

The Group does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial 

recognition, apart from the exceptional circumstances in which the Group acquires, 

disposes of, or terminates a business line. Financial liabilities are never reclassified. 

The Group did not reclassify any of its financial assets or liabilities in 2023. 
 

• Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of 

a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when the rights to 

receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired. The Group also 

derecognises the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial asset 

and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. 
 

The Group has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either: 

• The Group has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from 

the financial asset; or 

• It retains the rights to the cash flows but has assumed an obligation to pay 

the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under 

a ‘pass–through’ arrangement. 
 

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Group retains the 

contractual rights to receive the cash flows of a financial asset (the 'original asset'), 

but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one or more entities 

(the 'eventual recipients'), when all of the following three conditions are met: 
 

• The Group has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients 

unless it has collected equivalent amounts from the original asset, excluding 

short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the amount lent plus 

accrued interest at market rates 

• The Group cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to 

the eventual recipients 

• The Group has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual 

recipients without material delay. In addition, the Group is not entitled to 

reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash or cash equivalents 

including interest earned, during the period between the collection date and 

the date of required remittance to the eventual recipients.   
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either: 
 

• The Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; 

or 

• The Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

 

The Group considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the 

practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able 

to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing additional restrictions on 

the transfer. 

 

When the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 

rewards and has retained control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognised 

only to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement, in which case, the Group 

also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated 

liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the 

Group has retained. 

 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset 

is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the 

maximum amount of consideration the Group could be required to pay. 

 

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) 

on the transferred asset, the continuing involvement is measured at the value the 

Group would be required to pay upon repurchase. In the case of a written put option 

on an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of the entity's continuing 

involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the 

option exercise price. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is 

discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced 

by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 

existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 

treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 

liability. The difference between the carrying value of the original financial liability 

and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

Overview of the ECL principles 

The Group records the allowance for expected credit losses for all trade receivable 

and other debt financial assets not held at FVPL, in this section all referred to as 

‘financial instruments’. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under 

IFRS 9. 

 

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of 

the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss or LTECL), unless there has been no 

significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is 

based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL). 

 

The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from 

default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after 

the reporting date. 

 

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each 

reporting period, of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of 

default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.  

 

For trade and other receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in 

calculating ECLs as they do not contain a significant financing component. The 

ECL allowance is based on credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset 

(LTECL).   
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

ix) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI 

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying 

amount of these financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position, 

which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would 

arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an 

accumulated impairment amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The 

accumulated loss recognised in OCI is recycled to the profit and loss upon 

derecognition of the assets. 

 

Forward looking information 

In its ECL models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward-looking 

information as economic inputs, such as: 
 

• GDP growth 

• Unemployment rates 

• Central Bank rates 

• House price indices 
 

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all 

characteristics of the market at the date of the financial statements. To reflect this, 

qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as temporary 

adjustments when such differences are significantly material. 

 

Write-offs 

Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the 

Group has stopped pursuing the recovery. If the amount to be written off is greater 

than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to 

the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any 

subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss expense. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

x) Employee benefits 

 

The Group operates pension plans with defined contribution, defined benefit or 

hybrid schemes for all eligible full-time employees of the Group. The pension plans 

are governed by the relevant trustee rules and are generally funded by payments 

from employees and by the relevant Group companies, taking account of the rules 

of the pension plans and recommendations of independent qualified actuaries. 

 

Defined contribution plans 

 

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed 

contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive 

obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to 

pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior 

periods. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have 

been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they 

are due. 

 

Defined benefit plans 
 

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. The 

pension accounting costs for the plans are assessed using the projected unit credit 

method. Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of 

the asset ceiling, excluding net interest (not applicable to the Group) and the return 

on plan assets (excluding net interest), are recognised immediately in the 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position with a corresponding debit or credit 

to retained earnings through other comprehensive income in the period in which 

they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 

periods. The maximum economic benefits available, as limited by the asset ceiling 

will crystallise in the form of reductions in future contributions. 
 

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of: 
 

• The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and 

• The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

x) Employee benefits (continued) 
 

Defined benefit plans (continued) 
 

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit 

liability or asset. The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined 

benefit obligation within “Administrative costs” (Note 16): 
 

• Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and 

losses on curtailments and non-routine settlements; and 

• Net interest expense or income. 
 

Other post-employment benefit plans 
 

The Group also provides other post-employment benefits to their retirees. These 

benefits are unfunded. The entitlement to these benefits is based on the employee 

remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service 

period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of 

employment, using an accounting methodology similar to that for the defined 

benefit plans. 
 

xi) Inventories 
 

Inventory of newsprint, printing materials and machinery spares are valued at the 

lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average 

method and includes relevant import and local charges. Net realisable value is the 

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 

completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 

xii) Trade and other receivables 
 

Trade receivables, which generally have 30–90 days terms, are recognised and 

carried at original invoice amounts less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. 

An estimate for expected credit losses is made depending on the credit risk at the 

time of initial recognition. Trade receivables are considered to be credit-impaired 

when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written-off 

as incurred. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

xiii) Cash and short-term deposits 
 

Cash and short-term deposits in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits readily convertible to 

cash. 
 

For the purpose of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 

equivalents include all cash and short-term deposits with maturities of less than 

three months from date of establishment or which are readily convertible to a 

known amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

xiv) Foreign currency translation 
 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars 

(expressed in thousands), which is the Parent’s functional and presentation 

currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and 

items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that 

functional currency. 
 

Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the foreign currency at the rates of 

exchange prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Trinidad and Tobago Dollars 

at the rate of exchange ruling at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates that 

existed when the values were determined. Exchange differences on foreign 

currency transactions are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 

Comprehensive Loss.  
 

Foreign entities 

On consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign entities are translated into 

Trinidad and Tobago dollars at the rate of exchange ruling at the financial reporting 

date and their Statements of Comprehensive Income are translated at the weighted 

average exchange rates for the year. The exchange differences arising on re-

translation are recognized in other comprehensive income. On disposal of the 

foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in other 

comprehensive income is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 

Comprehensive Loss.  
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

xv) Equity movements 
 

Stated capital 

Ordinary stated capital is classified within equity and is recognised at the fair value 

of the consideration received by the Group. Incremental costs directly attributable 

to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a reduction in equity, net of tax. 

As equity is repurchased, the amount of consideration paid is recognised as a charge 

to equity and reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as 

treasury shares. 
 

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity 

when they are approved by the Group’s Board of Directors. Interim dividends are 

deducted from equity when they are paid. Dividends for the year that are approved 

after the consolidated statement of financial position date are dealt with as an event 

after the end of reporting date. 
 

Treasury shares 

Own equity instruments which are re-acquired (“treasury shares”) are deducted 

from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 

Comprehensive Loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s 

own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the 

consideration is recognised in other reserve. Such treasury shares are presented 

separately within equity and are stated at cost. 

 

xvi) Employee share ownership plan (ESOP) 
 

The Group operates an Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) whereby employees 

of the Group have the option to receive a percentage of their profit share bonuses 

in the form of ordinary shares of the Group. The Group recognises an expense 

within staff costs when bonuses are awarded. Shares acquired are funded by the 

Group contributions and the cost of the unallocated ESOP Shares is presented as a 

deduction in equity, separately disclosed as “treasury shares”. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

xvii) Trade and other payables 

 

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable, which are normally settled on 30-

90 days terms, are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be 

paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the 

Group. 

 

xviii) Earnings per share 

 

The computation of earnings per share is calculated as the net income attributable 

to ordinary shareholders (net of preference shares), divided by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, net of treasury shares. 

The Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue. 

 

xix) Provisions 

 

Provisions are required when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past 

event, where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 

benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made 

of the amount of the obligation. 

 

Restructuring provisions are recognised only when the Group has a constructive 

obligation, which is when a detailed formal plan identifies the business or part of 

the business concerned, the location and number of employees affected, a detailed 

estimate of the associated costs, and an appropriate timeline, and the employees 

affected have been notified of the plan’s main features. 

 

When the Group can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation 

to a specific matter and considers such outflows to be probable, the Group records 

a provision against the matter. Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of 

determining the probability of losses, the Group takes into account a number of 

factors including legal advice, the stage of the matter and historical evidence from 

similar incidents. Significant judgment is required to conclude on these estimates. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

xx) Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits 

will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, 

rebates and sale taxes. 

 

The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is 

recognised: 

 

Sales of newspaper, advertising and job printing 

Revenue from the sale of advertising to third parties, including related parties, is 

recognised with the publication or broadcast of the advertisement and the amount 

of the revenue can be measured reliably. Income from newspaper circulation and 

job printing are recognised upon delivery of the goods, and the amount of revenue 

can be measured reliably. 

 

Rental income 

Rental income arising under operating leases is accounted for on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. 

 

Interest income 

Interest income is recognised as interest accrues, unless collectability is in doubt. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

xxi) Taxation 

 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 

measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 

authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that 

are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  

 

Deferred income tax 

A deferred tax charge is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary 

differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 

for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the period when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on the enacted tax rate at the 

reporting date. 

 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting 

date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 

profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be 

utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting 

date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 

profit will allow the deferred tax to be recovered. 

 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside 

profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 

transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

xxii) Impairment of non–financial assets 

 

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready for 

use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets 

that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 

amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 

an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of 

assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 

largely independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). Prior impairments of non-

financial assets (other than goodwill) are reviewed for possible reversal at each 

reporting date. 

 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair 

value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no 

such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These 

calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for 

publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators. 

 

The Group bases its impairment calculation on most recent budgets and forecast 

calculations, which are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which 

the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations 

generally cover a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and 

applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year. 

 

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of profit 

or loss in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, 

except for properties previously revalued with the revaluation taken to OCI. For 

such properties, the impairment is recognised in OCI up to the amount of any 

previous revaluation. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

xxii) Impairment of non–financial assets (continued) 

 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to 

determine whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment 

losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group 

estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised 

impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used 

to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 

recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not 

exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for 

the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss 

unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated 

as a revaluation increase. 

 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that 

the carrying value may be impaired. 

 

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each 

CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable 

amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is 

recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future 

periods. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

xxiii) Fair value measurement 

 

The Group measures certain financial assets at fair value at each year end. Also, 

fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 

22. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 

a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 

date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction 

to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for 

the asset or liability. 

 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group. 

 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that 

market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 

market participants act in their economic best interest.  

 

A fair value measurement of a non–financial asset takes into account a market 

participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest 

and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset 

in its highest and best use. 

 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and 

for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of 

relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

xxiii) Fair value measurement (continued) 

 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the 

consolidated financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, 

described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement as a whole: 
 

• Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities 

• Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement is directly or 

indirectly observable 

• Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable 
 

See Note 22 for further details on the valuation techniques and inputs used to 

account for financial instruments measured at fair value. 

 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements 

on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between 

Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level 

input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 

reporting period. 

 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets 

on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the 

level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

xxiv) Intangible assets 

 

Goodwill 

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the 

consideration transferred over the Group’s interest in net fair value of the net 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair 

value of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree. 

 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination 

is allocated to each of the cash-generating units (CGUs), or groups of CGUs, that 

is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of 

units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity 

at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is 

monitored at the CGU level. 

 

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events 

or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of 

goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in 

use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised 

immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed. 

 

Licences 

Separately licences are shown at historical cost. Licences acquired in a business 

combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Licences have an 

indefinite useful life and impairment tests are undertaken annually or more 

frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

xxiv) Intangible assets (continued) 

 

Broadcast rights  

The Group has elected to classify broadcast rights as intangible assets. Control is 

obtained over the intangible asset, and therefore the asset is recognised, at the point 

at which: 
 

• The underlying resource is sufficiently developed to be identifiable; 

• The Company has legal, exclusive rights to broadcast; 

• There is a penalty for non-delivery of content; 

• It is probable that the event will occur or the content delivered; and 

• It is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Company. 

 

Broadcast rights are recognised at historical cost, net of accumulated amortisation. 

Broadcast rights are amortised over their estimated useful lives in a method that 

matches the amortisation expense with the revenues expected to be generated. The 

relevant amortisation expense is recognised within “Administrative costs” (Note 

16) in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss. 

 

Computer software 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognised as 

an expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the 

design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the 

Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met: 
 

• It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be 

available for use; 

• Management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it; 

• There is an ability to use or sell the software product; 

• It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable 

future economic benefits; 

• Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 

development and to use or sell the software product are available; and 

• The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development 

can be reliably measured. 
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2. Material accounting policy information (continued) 

 

xxiv) Intangible assets (continued) 
 

Computer software (continued) 

Directly attributable costs capitalised as part of the software product include the 

software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant 

overheads. 
 

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as 

an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are 

not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. 
 

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their 

estimated useful lives, which do not exceed seven years. 
 

xxv) Deferred programming 
 

Deferred programming, which represents programming contracted but not yet 

broadcasted, is presented within trade and other receivables and is measured at cost 

less amortisation. The costs of programmes are expensed as they are broadcasted. 
 

xxvi) Segment reporting 
 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting 

provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-

maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of 

the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors that makes 

strategic decisions. 
 

xxvii) Comparative information 
 

A change in presentation was made to the comparative information of the previous 

year (2022) in these consolidated financial statements to allow consistent 

presentation with the current year.  The change relates to the reclassification from 

current assets to non-current assets of $4,511 thousand in relation to investment 

securities that the Group does not intend to dispose of in the foreseeable future. 

This change is not material to the overall consolidated financial statements and had 

no effect on net assets, loss/(profit) for the year, net cashflows or earnings per share 

of the Group. 
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3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments 
 

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS 

requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, the accompanying disclosures 

and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and 

estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount 

of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 
 

Judgments 
 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the 

following judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 

the consolidated financial statements: 
 

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives 

The Group determines whether goodwill or other intangible assets with indefinite useful 

lives are impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the ‘value in 

use’ of the cash generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating a value in 

use amount requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows 

from the cash generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to 

calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further details are provided in Note 6 and 

accounting policy Note 2 (xxii). 
 

Property, plant and equipment  

Management exercises judgement in determining whether costs incurred can accrue 

sufficient future economic benefits to the Group to enable the value to be treated as a capital 

expense. Further judgement is used upon annual review of the residual values and useful 

lives of all capital items to determine any necessary adjustments to carrying value. 
 

The accounting policy related to property, plant and equipment is disclosed in Note 2 (v). 
 

Impairment of financial assets 

Management makes judgments at each Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date 

to determine whether financial assets are impaired when the carrying value is greater than 

the recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of impairment. The recoverable 

amount is the present value of the future cash flows. 
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3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (continued) 
 

Deferred taxes 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant 

management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can 

be recognised, based upon the timing and the level of future taxable profits together with 

future tax planning strategies. 
 

Pension and other post–employment benefits 

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment medical benefits is 

determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making 

assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, 

mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, 

such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. Further details are given in Note 8. 
 

Libel 

In the course of normal business operation, writs were filed against the Group for libel. 

Estimates included are based on professional advice received and management has 

established provisions to cover contingencies of this nature. 
 

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables 

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision 

rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have 

similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type and customer type). The provision 

matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will 

calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking 

information. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated. The 

Group relies on a limited range of forward-looking information such as but not limited to 

media industry trends and GDP growth.  
 

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast 

economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive 

to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical 

credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative 

of customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s 

trade receivables is disclosed in Note 11. 
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3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (continued) 
 

Leases 
 

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – 

Group as lessee 
 

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with 

any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be 

exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably 

certain not to be exercised. The Group has several lease contracts that include extension 

and termination options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is 

reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. 

That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise 

either the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the 

lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control 

and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., 

construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the 

leased asset). 
 

The Group did not include the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of $5 

million (2022: $8.2 million) with shorter non-cancellable period (i.e., up to 3 years). The 

Group typically exercises its option to renew for these leases because there will be a 

significant negative effect on production if a replacement asset is not readily available. The 

renewal periods for leases of $2.4 million (2022: $2.8 million) with longer non-cancellable 

periods (i.e., 5 years to 10 years) are not included as part of the lease term as these are not 

reasonably certain to be exercised. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options 

are included as part of the lease term only when they are reasonably certain not to be 

exercised. 
 

Estimating the incremental borrowing rate 
 

If the Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, it uses its 

incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest 

that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, 

the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar 

economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay', 

which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries 

that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the 

terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s 

functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market 

interest rates) when available.  



GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 

(Continued) 

 

 

 50 

4. Property, plant and equipment 

 

  Plant, 

  machinery, Office  

 Land and equipment & furniture & Capital 

 buildings motor vehicles equipment WIP Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

At 31 December 2023 

 

Cost 37,016 152,846 18,193 – 208,055 

 

Accumulated depreciation (20,906) (109,712) (15,086)          – (145,704) 

 

Net book value  16,110    43,134    3,107          –    62,351 

 

1 January 2023 16,789 45,730 2,545 632 65,696 

Additions – 2,576 1 3,711 6,288 

Transfers from WIP – 2,500 1,539 (4,039) – 

Disposals and other movements (13) (7) – (304) (324) 

Depreciation charge      (666)     (7,665)      (978)          –     (9,309) 

 

31 December 2023  16,110    43,134    3,107          –    62,351 
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4. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 

  Plant, 

  machinery, Office 

 Land and equipment & furniture & Capital 

 buildings motor vehicles equipment WIP Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

At 31 December 2022 

 

Cost 37,031 147,785 16,655 632 202,103 

 

Accumulated depreciation (20,242) (102,055) (14,110)         – (136,407) 

 

Net book value  16,789    45,730    2,545     632    65,696 

 

1 January 2022 17,524 50,587 2,447 703 71,261 

Additions – – 16 4,518 4,534 

Transfers from WIP – 3,203 1,061 (4,264) – 

Disposals and other movements (13) (7) (5) (325) (350) 

Depreciation charge      (722)     (8,053)      (974)         –     (9,749) 

 

31 December 2022  16,789    45,730    2,545     632    65,696 
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 2023 2022 

5. Investment property $ $ 

 

Balance at 1 January 1,383 1,523 

Depreciation for the year     (136)    (140) 

 

Balance at 31 December   1,247  1,383 

 

Investment property at cost 6,365 6,365 

Accumulated depreciation  (5,118) (4,982) 

 

Net carrying amount   1,247  1,383 

 

Amounts included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss for the year: 

 

 2023 2022 

 

Rental income   1,821  1,850 

 

Direct operating expenses      152     113 

 

The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no 

contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment properties, or for 

repairs, maintenance and enhancements. 

 

The Group has 24% of space available for rental at its property on 22-24 St. Vincent Street, 

Port of Spain, which has been classified as an Investment property. There was no change in 

the allocation of space over the prior year.  

 

  



GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated) 

(Continued) 

 

 

 53 

6. Intangible assets 

  Licences Goodwill Software Total 

 $ $ $ $ 

Cost 

 

At 31 December 2022   11,899    3,374   8,173  23,446 

 

At 31 December 2023   11,899    3,374   8,173  23,446 

 

Amortisation and impairment 

 

At 1 January 2022 – – 5,663 5,663 

Amortisation charge for the year          –           –      991      991 

 

At 31 December 2022 – – 6,654 6,654 

Amortisation charge for the year           –           –      808      808 

 

At 31 December 2023           –           –   7,462   7,462 

 

Net carrying amount: 

 

At 31 December 2022 11,899 3,374 1,519 16,792 

 

At 31 December 2023 11,899 3,374 711 15,984 
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6. Intangible assets (continued) 

 

Licences 

 

Licences include two (2) radio broadcast licences with indefinite useful lives.  

 

Radio Broadcast Licences 

One radio broadcast licence was acquired through a business combination with 

Wonderland Entertainment Limited on 9 August 2011 at a cost of $6.099 million and the 

other radio broadcast licence was acquired on 12 September 2014 at a cost of $5.8 million 

to operate the 99.5FM broadcast frequency. The licences have been granted for a minimum 

of 10 years by the relevant government agency with the option to renew at the end of the 

period at little or no cost to the Group. Previous licences acquired have been renewed which 

has allowed the Group to determine that these assets have indefinite useful lives. 

 

As at 31 December 2023, these assets were tested for impairment and based on the results 

of the tests no impairment was recorded. 

 

Goodwill 

 

In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill arising from the acquisition of the Trinidad 

Broadcasting Company Limited and Prime Radio Limited in 1998 was reviewed for 

impairment at year end. Based on the results of this review no impairment expense was 

recorded. 

 

Impairment testing 

 

The following highlights the information used in the impairment testing of goodwill and 

licences with indefinite useful lives: 

 
Goodwill and licences Basis for 

recoverable 

amount 

Discount 

rate 

Cash flow 

projection term 

Growth rate 

(extrapolation 

period) 

Trinidad Broadcasting 

Company Limited 
Value in use 12.9% 

Five years and 

into perpetuity 
2.2% 

Wonderland Entertainment 

Limited (SLAM 100.5FM) 
Value in use 12.9% 

Five years and 

into perpetuity 
1% 

Sky 99.5FM 
Value in use 12.9% 

Five years and 

into perpetuity 
2.2% 
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6. Intangible assets (continued) 

 

Impairment testing (continued) 

 

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit was determined using the “value in 

use” method. These calculations use pre-tax cash-flow projections based on financial 

budgets approved by management. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect the 

specific risk relating to the cash-generating unit. 

 

The carrying amounts of goodwill and licences with indefinite useful lives are allocated to 

the following CGUs, for impairment testing. These CGUs are part of the “Multi-Media” 

reporting segment disclosed in Note 20. 

 

 TBC Network SKY 99.5FM SLAM 100.5FM Total 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Goodwill 3,374 3,374  –  – 3,374 3,374 

Radio broadcast licenses  – 5,800 5,800 6,099 6,099 11,899 11,899 

 

The recoverable amounts used in the impairment testing of the TBC Network, SKY 

99.5FM and SLAM 100.5 FM CGUs were $34 million, $7.4 million and $26.3 million 

respectively. 

 

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations and sensitivity to changes in 

assumptions 

 

The calculation of value in use for the TBC Network, SKY 99.5FM and SLAM 100.5FM 

units is most sensitive to the following assumptions: 

 

• Gross margin 

• Discount rates 

• Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the forecast period. 
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6. Intangible assets (continued) 

 

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations and sensitivity to changes in 

assumptions (continued) 

 

Gross margin 

Estimated revenue, which is a key element of the estimated gross margins, is based on the 

implementation of a new sales strategy in alignment with current market developments. 

Decreased advertising demand can lead to a decline in the revenue generated and, 

consequently, the gross margin, which may impact the value in use calculation of the CGUs 

and the results of the impairment test. 

 

Discount rates 

Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each CGU, 

taking into consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying 

assets that have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate 

calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its operating divisions 

and is derived from its weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into 

account both cost of debt and cost of equity. Specific industry risk is incorporated by 

applying individual beta factors. Adjustments to the discount rate are made to factor in the 

specific amount and timing of the future tax flows in order to reflect a pre-tax discount rate. 

A rise in the discount rate may impact the value in use calculation of the CGUs and the 

results of the impairment test. 

 

Growth rates 

Rates are based on industry research. This rate is used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the 

forecast period. For each of the CGUs, a decrease in the long-term growth rate may impact 

the value in use calculation of the CGUs and the results of the impairment test. 

 

Computer software 

Intangible assets also include the internal development cost arising from the 

implementation of NEO Content Management System for Media in March 2018 which 

were recognised at fair value at the capitalisation date. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

computer software is carried at cost less amortisation and impairment losses where 

necessary and is expected to have a finite life not exceeding 7 years.   
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7. Leases 

 

Group as a lessee 

 

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land and buildings used in its operations. 

These leases of land and buildings generally have lease terms between three and ten years.  

 

The Group also has certain leases of office equipment with lease terms of 12 months or 

less. The Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ recognition exemptions for these leases. The 

Group recognised rent expense from short-term leases of $0.1 million for the year ended 

31 December 2023 (2022: $0.1 million). 

 

Right-of-use assets  

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the 

movements during the period: 

 

 Land and 

building 

Motor 

vehicles Total 

 $ $ $ 

 

Balance at 1 January 2023 9,017 961 9,978 

    

Additions – 304 304 

Depreciation (3,546)  (303) (3,849) 

    

Balance at 31 December 2023   5,471   962   6,433 

    

Balance at 1 January 2022 1,795 510 2,305 

    

Additions 10,417 779 11,196 

Depreciation  (3,195)  (328)  (3,523) 

    

Balance at 31 December 2022   9,017   961   9,978 
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7. Leases (continued) 
 

 Group as a lessee (continued) 
 

Lease liabilities 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the 

period: 

 2023 2022 

 $ $ 
 

As at 1 January 10,769 3,010 

Additions 304 11,272 

Accretion of interest 361 340 

Payments  (4,219)  (3,853) 
 

As at 31 December   7,215 10,769 
 

Current  4,097 3,773 

Non-current    3,118   6,996 
 

    7,215 10,769 
 

The Group has no lease contracts that contain variable payments, extensions and 

termination options. The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 25. 
 

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss: 

 2023 2022 

 $ $ 
 

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 3,849 3,523 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 361 340 

Expense relating to short-term leases 140 121 

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets        25        50 
 

Total amount recognised in profit or loss   4,375   4,034 
 

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of $4.2 million in 2023 ($4.3 million in 2022).  
 

Group as lessor – Operating lease commitments 

The Group is involved in the lease of transmission towers and investment properties. These 

details are disclosed in Note 23.  
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8. Employee benefits 

 

The Group operates pension plans with defined contribution, defined benefit or hybrid 

schemes for all eligible full-time employees of the Group. The Group also provides certain 

post-retirement medical benefits to employees. These Plans are governed by the deeds and 

rules of the specific plan and the employment laws relevant to the jurisdictions in which 

they operate. 

 

Contributions recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss with 

respect to defined contribution plans are as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 

 $ $ 

 

Contribution expense       786      796 

 

The level of pension benefits provided under the defined benefit plans depends on the 

member’s length of service and salary at retirement age. The defined benefit pension plan 

requires contributions to be made to a separately administered fund. The Fund has a 

separate legal form and is governed by the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees is 

responsible for the administration of the plan assets and for the definition of the investment 

strategy. 

 

The Board of Trustees periodically reviews the level of funding in the pension plan. Such 

a review includes the asset-liability matching strategy and investment risk management 

policy which considers the term of the pension obligation while simultaneously remaining 

compliant with the requirements of the Pension Act. The pension plans are exposed to 

inflation, interest rate risks and changes in the life expectancy for pensioners in the relevant 

jurisdictions. As the Plan assets include significant investments in quoted equity shares, 

the Group is also exposed to equity market risk. 
 

 2023 2022 

 $ $ 

 

Employee benefits asset 107,128 107,531 

 

Employee benefits obligation      5,451     5,737 
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8. Employee benefits (continued) 

 

2023 changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets: 
 

 Defined 

benefit 

obligation 

Fair value 

 of plan  

assets 

Net  

benefit  

asset 

Employee 

benefit 

obligation 

 $ $ $ $ 

 

Balance at 1 January 2023 133,854 (241,385) (107,531)    5,737 
 

Pension cost charged  

to profit or loss     

Current service cost 2,723 – 2,723 195 

Administrative expenses – 225 225 – 

Net interest     6,483   (11,820)     (5,337)      281 
 

Sub-total included in 

 profit or loss     9,206   (11,595)     (2,389)      476 
 

Re–measurement (gains)/losses 

in OCI     

Experience adjustments (12,241) 16,173 3,932 (325) 

Transfers    (2,957)      2,957             –           – 

 

Sub-total included in OCI  (15,198)    19,130      3,932     (325) 

 

Other movements 

Contributions by employee 1,140 (1,140) – – 

Contributions by employer – (1,140) (1,140) – 

Benefits paid    (6,322)      6,322             –     (437) 

 

Sub-total – other movements    (5,182)      4,042     (1,140)     (437) 

 

Balance at 31 December 2023  122,680 (229,808) (107,128)    5,451 
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8. Employee benefits (continued) 

 

2022 changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets: 
 

 Defined 

benefit 

obligation 

Fair value 

 of plan  

assets 

Net  

benefit  

asset 

Employee 

benefit 

obligation 

 $ $ $ $ 

 

Balance at 1 January 2022 128,893 (240,520) (111,627) 5,763 
 

Pension cost charged  

to profit or loss     

Current service cost 3,035 – 3,035 243 

Administrative expenses – 235 235 – 

Net interest    6,542   (12,078)     (5,536)      284 
 

Sub-total included in 

 profit or loss    9,577   (11,843)     (2,266)      527 
 

Re–measurement (gains)/losses 

in OCI     

Experience adjustments (2,890) 10,468 7,578 (154) 

Transfers    2,600     (2,600)             –          (3) 

 

Sub-total included in OCI      (290)      7,868      7,578      (157) 

 

Other movements 

Contributions by employee 1,216 (1,216) – – 

Contributions by employer – (1,216) (1,216)– – 

Benefits paid   (5,542)      5,542             –      (396) 

 

Sub-total – other movements   (4,326)      3,110     (1,216)      (396) 

 

Balance at 31 December 2022 133,854 (241,385) (107,531)    5,737 
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8. Employee benefits (continued) 

 

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets 

are as follows: 

 2023 2022 

 

Local equities – quoted  32% 36% 

Local bonds 32% 31% 

Foreign investments 29% 23% 

Real estate and mortgages 2% 2% 

Short term securities 5% 8% 

 

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date: 

 2023 2022 

 

Discount rate at 31 December 6% 5% 

Future salary increases 4% 3% 

Future medical claims inflation 3% 3% 

 

Shown below is a quantitative sensitivity analysis for the impact of significant assumptions 

on the defined benefit obligation: 

 

 

Assumptions 

 

Discount rate 

Future salary 

increases 

Future medical 

claims inflation 

 

Sensitivity level 

1% 

increase 

1% 

decrease 

1% 

increase 

1% 

decrease 

1% 

increase 

1% 

decrease 
 

At 31 December 2023 (11,999) 14,800 3,599 (3,206) 539 (443) 
 

At 31 December 2022 (14,266) 17,744 4,237 (3,768) 628 (509) 

 

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates 

the impact on net defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key 

assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period. 
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8. Employee benefits (continued) 

 

The pension plan is maintained at a significant surplus; the Group has chosen not to take 

any contribution holidays to ensure the continued health of the Plan in changing economic 

circumstances. The Group’s contribution rate of 4% of pensionable salaries will continue 

into the foreseeable future. The Group is expected to contribute $1.1 million to its defined 

benefit plans and $0.5 million to its post-employment benefit plans in 2024. 

 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting 

period is 20 years (2022: 15 years) for the defined benefit plan and 11 years (2022: 14 

years) for the post-retirement medical plan. 

 

9. Deferred taxation 

 

 

2022 

(Credit)/ 

charge to 

income 

(Credit)/ 

charge to 

OCI 

Foreign 

exchange 

difference 2023 

Deferred tax asset      

Employee benefits obligation (1,719) (12) 98 – (1,633) 

Leases (101) (46) – – (147) 

Provisions (181) 134 – – (47) 

Tax loss     (518) (3,156)         –          –  (3,674) 

 
 (2,519) (3,080)       98          –  (5,501) 

Deferred tax liabilities      

Property, plant and equipment/ 

  Investment property 1,721 (324) – – 1,397 

Intangible assets 668 – – – 668 

Print equipment 6,933 (675) – – 6,258 

Employee benefits asset 32,257  1,059 (1,180)          –  32,136 

 
41,579       60 (1,180)          –  40,459 

Net deferred tax credit  (3,020) (1,082)         –  
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9. Deferred taxation (continued) 

 

 The Group has unutilised tax losses of $12.2 million (2022: $1.7 million) available to be 

carried forward and applied against future taxable income of the Group. 

 

 The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset of $3.7 million (2022: $0.5 million) on the 

cumulative taxation losses incurred. The recoverability of these deferred tax assets depends 

on the Group’s ability to generate future taxable profits. The Group believes that these 

deferred tax assets are recoverable because these losses are expected to shelter taxable 

profits in the foreseeable future. 

 

 

 

2021 

(Credit)/ 

charge to 

income 

(Credit)/ 

charge to 

OCI 

Foreign 

exchange 

difference 2022 

Deferred tax asset      

Employee benefits obligation (1,727) (39) 47 – (1,719) 

Leases (55) (46) – – (101) 

Provisions (89) (92) – – (181) 

Tax loss     (567)        49          –          –     (518) 

 
 (2,438)     (128)         47          –  (2,519) 

Deferred tax liabilities      

Property, plant and equipment/ 

  Investment property 2,435 (714) – – 1,721 

Intangible assets 668 – – – 668 

Print equipment 7,637 (704) – – 6,933 

Employee benefits asset 33,487   1,043  (2,273)          – 32,257 

 
44,227     (375)  (2,273)          – 41,579 

Net deferred tax credit      (503)  (2,226)         –  
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10. Inventories 2023 2022 

  $ $ 

 

Raw materials 4,010 7,131 

Machinery spares 3,136 2,864 

Goods in transit    1,912       910 

 

 9,058 10,905 

Less: provision for obsolescence   (2,240)   (1,816) 

 

    6,818    9,089 

 

During the year, $142 thousand of inventory previously deemed obsolete, was consumed. 

This amount (2022: $397 thousand), is included in Administrative costs. 

 

 2023 2022 

11. Trade and other receivables $ $ 

 

Trade receivables 28,580 42,058 

Less: Provision for doubtful debts  (6,578)  (6,885) 

 

 22,002 35,173 

 

Other receivables 4,326 5,024 

Less: Provision for doubtful debts     (765)     (765) 

 

   3,561   4,259 

 

Amount due from Related parties companies (Note 21)   1,482   1,531 

 

 27,045 40,963 
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11. Trade and other receivables (continued) 

 

As at 31 December the aging analysis of trade debtors is as follows: 

 

 Past due but not impaired 

 Total Current 30–90 days > 90 days 

 

2023 22,002 8,039 8,840 5,123 

 

2022 35,173 17,991 12,131 5,051 

 

As at 31 December 2023, trade and other receivables at nominal value of $7.3 million 

(2022: $7.7 million) were impaired and fully provided.  

 

Movements in ECL allowance are as follows: 

  2023 2022 

 $ $ 
 

ECL per IFRS 9 at 1 January 7,650 6,148 

Provision for expected credit losses     (307)   1,502 

 

Balance at 31 December   7,343   7,650 
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12. Investment securities 

 2023 2023 2022 2022 

 Market  Market 

 value Cost value Cost 

 $ $ $ $ 

Investments at fair value 

through profit and loss 

Quoted shares 4,511 658 4,401 658 

 

The fair value of quoted ordinary shares is determined by reference to published price 

quotations in an active trading market.  

 

 2023 2022 

13. Cash and short–term deposits  $ $ 

 

Cash at bank and on hand 17,530 17,037 

Money market fund        14        14 

 

 17,544 17,051 

 

Fixed deposits 60,280 58,940 
 

 

 77,824 75,991 

 

Money market fund 

 

This represents a holding in the Unit Trust Corporation TT dollar Income Fund. The Fund 

earns interest at a rate of <1.19% per annum at year-end (2022: <1.15%). 

 

Fixed deposits 

 

An amount of $60.3 million (2022: $58.9 million) was held in TT dollar denominated fixed 

deposits with maturities of 1- 5.5 years of which $28 million has a fixed interest rate of 

3.00% for 1 year, $12.3 million has a fixed interest rate of 3.00% per annum for 3 years 

and $20 million has a fixed interest rate of 4.50% per annum for 5.5 years. The fixed 

deposits were invested with fellow subsidiaries (ANSA Merchant Bank Limited and 

ANSA Bank Limited) in the ANSA McAL Group of Companies. 
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13. Cash and short–term deposits (continued) 

 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 

comprise the following at 31 December:  

 2023 2022 

   $ $ 

 

Cash at bank and on hand 17,530 17,037 

Money market fund        14        14 
 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 17,544 17,051 

 

14. Stated capital, treasury shares and other reserve 
 

a) Issued and fully paid 
 

29,297 6% cumulative participating preference shares 1,465 1,465 

40,000,000 ordinary shares of no-par value 25,823 25,823 
 

 27,288 27,288 
 

The Company is authorised to issue an unlimited number of ordinary shares of no-

par value. 

 

b) Treasury shares 
 

As detailed in Note 2 (xvi), the Group operates an Employee Share Ownership Plan 

(ESOP) in which shares purchased by the Plan are held in Trust. The cost of these 

unallocated ESOP shares is accounted for and disclosed within equity as treasury 

shares. The number and value of own equity shares (treasury shares) held by the 

Group are as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
 

Number of shares (000’s)      100      100 
 

Carrying value of shares ($’000s)   1,554   1,554 
 

The market value of treasury shares ($’000s)      220      294 
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14. Stated capital, treasury shares and other reserve (continued) 
 

 2023 2022 

c) Other reserve $ $ 

 

Foreign currency reserve 

Balance as at 1 January  167 268 

Currency translation        (54)     (101) 

 

Balance as at 31 December       113      167 

 

The foreign currency reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from 

the translation of the financial statements of iRadio Inc. into Trinidad and Tobago 

dollars. 

 

  2023 2022 

15. Trade and other payables $ $ 

 

Trade creditors 2,794 3,460 

Other creditors and accruals 16,904 14,557 

VAT payable 922 1,574 

Amounts due to group companies (Note 21)       229    2,664 

 

  20,849  22,255 

 

In the normal course of business operations, writs were filed against the Group for libel, 

some of which remained outstanding at the year-end. Based on professional advice 

received, management has established provisions of $0.65 million (2022: $0.54 million) to 

cover potential liabilities of this nature. 
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 2023 2022 

16. Revenue and income from operating activities $ $ 

 

Advertising income 87,359 104,127 

Circulation income 11,249 12,966 

Printing and other income        735        695 
 

Total revenue 99,343 117,788 

Cost of sales  (51,626)  (59,868) 
 

Gross profit 47,717 57,920 

Administrative costs (45,227) (41,211) 

Distribution costs (17,760) (16,422) 

Other income (see below)     5,394     4,329 
 

(Loss)/profit from operating activities    (9,876)     4,616 
 

Components of other income: 
 

Rental income 2,721 2,730 

Interest and investment income 1,404 773 

Loss on foreign exchange (28) (33) 

Other income 1,023 669 

Dividend income 164 120 

Unrealised gain on revaluation of investment securities        110          70 
 

     5,394     4,329 
 

Administrative and distribution costs included above: 
 

Salaries and wages 23,070 25,959 

Depreciation and amortisation (excl. right-to-use-assets) 3,220 3,493 

Depreciation on right-to-use-assets 3,546 3,195 

Directors’ fees 1,170 1,055 
 

Depreciation expense charged to cost of sales for the year amounted to $7.3 million (2022: 

$7.4 million). 
 

Staff cost included in cost of sales amount to $28.65 million (2022: $25.3 million). 
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 2023 2022 

17. Finance costs $ $ 
 

Interest on lease liabilities  352 340 

Other interest and finance costs         374      393 
 

        726      733 
 

18. Taxation 
 

a) Taxation credit – Prior year – (306) 

Other levies 976 385 

Corporation tax 60 1,845 

Deferred taxation (Note 9)    (3,020)     (503) 
 

    (1,984)   1,421 
 

b) Reconciliation of tax expense and product of 

  accounting profit multiplied by the applicable 

  tax rate: 
 

(Loss)/profit before taxation (10,602)   3,883 
 

Income taxes calculated at statutory rates (3,197) 1,160 

Tax exempt income (51) (241) 

Prior year over accrual – (306) 

Non-allowable expenses and other deductions 68 92 

Other levies 976 385 

Other permanent differences        220      331 
 

    (1,984)   1,421 
 

19. Dividends 
 

6% cumulative participating preference shares 

– final 2022 – 3% (2021: 3%) 44 44 

– interim 2023 – 3% (2022: 3%)          44        44 
 

 88 88 
 

Final ordinary shares dividend for 2022: 4¢ – paid (2021: 7¢)     1,600   2,800 
 

     1,688   2,888  
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19. Dividends (continued) 

 

During the year ended 31 December 2023, dividends of 6% on preference shares 

(amounting to $88 thousand) were declared and paid. During the year ended 31 December 

2023, the 2022 final dividend of 4 cents per ordinary share (amounting to $1,600 thousand) 

was declared and paid.  

 

No final dividend per ordinary share in respect of 2023 (2022: 4 cents) has been proposed 

by the Directors subsequent to the year end. 

 

20. Segment information 

 

 For management purposes, the Group’s segments are organised and managed separately 

according to the nature of these services provided by each segment. The reportable 

segments are the Print and Multi-Media segments. 

 

The Print segment is mainly involved in newspaper circulation and other printing services 

for other publishers. The Multi-Media segment provides broadcasting services through 

its seven (7) radio stations as well as the live television station. 

 

 Print Multi– 

 segment media segment Total Total 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

 

Revenue 44,632 50,852 54,711 66,936 99,343 117,788 

(Loss)/profit 

  before taxation (8,284) 117 (2,318) 3,766 (10,602) 3,883 
 

Assets 156,620 167,053 158,633 167,452 315,253 334,505 
 

Liabilities 33,313 36,153 40,661 44,188 73,974 80,341 

Depreciation and 

  amortisation 10,309 10,133 3,793 4,270 14,102 14,403 

Capital expenditure 2,451 2,178 3,837 3,067 6,288 5,245 

 

No revenue from a single external customer or counterparty amounted to 10% or more of 

the Group’s total revenue in 2023 or 2022.   
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21. Related party disclosures 

 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Guardian Media 

Limited and the 100% owned subsidiaries, Wonderland Entertainment Limited and iRadio 

Inc. 

 

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties 

 

Parties are considered to be related if one has the ability to control or exercise significant 

influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. A number of 

transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These 

transactions were carried out at commercial terms and at market rates. Outstanding 

balances at the year-end are unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There 

have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. 

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has not made any provision for doubtful 

debts relating to amounts owed by related parties (2022: Nil). 

 

 2023 2022 

 $ $ 

Income generated from related parties 

Ultimate parent 275 792 

Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent   5,105   5,466 

 

   5,380   6,258 

Purchases from related parties 

Ultimate parent 9,360 3,689 

Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent 19,435 21,092 

Other related parties   4,991   4,126 

 

 33,786 28,907 

Amounts due from related parties 

Ultimate parent 10 50 

Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent   1,472   1,481 

 

   1,482   1,531 
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 2023 2022 

21. Related party disclosures (continued) $ $ 

 

Amounts owed to related parties 

Ultimate parent – trading 18 136 

Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent – trading      211   2,528 
 

 229 2,664 

Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent – lease liabilities   1,256      317 
 

   1,485   2,981 
 

Investments at fair value through statement of income 
 

Included therein is a holding of less than 1% of the issued share capital of a fellow 

subsidiary of the ultimate parent. This investment has a carrying value of $4.5 million at 

31 December 2023 (2022: $4.4 million). (Refer to Note 12). 

 

Cash and short-term deposits 
 

Included therein are fixed deposits with a fellow subsidiary of the ultimate parent 

amounting to $60.3 million at 31 December 2023 (2022: $58.94 million) (Refer to Note 

13).  
 

 2023 2022 

Compensation of key management personnel $ $ 

 

Short–term employee benefits   1,481    1,711 
 

Contributions to defined contribution plans        42         42 

 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for 

planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. 
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22. Fair values and fair value hierarchies 

 

The carrying amount of short–term financial assets and liabilities comprising cash and cash 

equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term investments at amortised cost, accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities are a reasonable estimate of their fair values because of the 

short maturity of these instruments. For all other financial assets and liabilities, the carrying 

value is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.  

 

The fair value information is based on information available to management as at the dates 

presented. Although management is not aware of any factors that will significantly affect 

the fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for the 

purposes of these consolidated financial statements and, therefore the current estimates of 

the fair value may be significantly different from the amounts presented herein.  
 

Investment securities classified as fair value through statement of income is a Level 1 

financial asset. Included in the Level 1 category are financial assets that are measured in 

whole by reference to published quotes in an active market. A financial instrument is 

regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available 

from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency and 

those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length 

basis. 

 

23. Capital commitments and contingencies 

 

Contingencies – Legal action 

 

The Group operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has an element 

of litigation risk inherent to its operations. As a result, it is involved in various litigation 

proceedings arising in the ordinary course of the Group’s business. 

 

As disclosed in Note 15 there were a number of writs served against the Company for libel 

for which provisions have been established and recorded in respect of these matters which 

were considered probable liabilities. There are also certain other pending legal actions and 

other claims in which the Group is involved where the directors are of the opinion that, 

based on information provided by the Group’s attorneys-at-law, if any liability should arise 

out of these claims it is not likely to be probable. Accordingly, no provision has been made 

in these consolidated financial statements in respect of these matters. 
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23. Capital commitments and contingencies (continued) 

 

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessor 

 

The Group is involved in leases on transmission towers and investment properties. Future 

minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are, 

as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 

 $   $   

 

Within one year 1,025 1,025 

Within 2 to 5 years   4,102   4,102 

 

   5,127   5,127 

 

24. Earnings per share 

 

As described in Note 2 (xviii), basic earnings per share is computed by relating net income 

attributable to ordinary shareholder (net of preference shares) to the weighted average 

number of shares outstanding during the year. The weighted average number of shares has 

been adjusted for the removal of treasury shares. Basic earnings per share has been 

computed as follows: 

 2023 2022 

 $ $ 

 

Net (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (8,618) 2,462 

Less preference share dividend       (88)       (88) 

 

(Loss)/profit available to ordinary shareholders  (8,706)   2,374 

 

Weighted average number of shares (’000) 

(adjusted for treasury shares) 39,900 39,900 

 

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (22) cents 6 cents 

 

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue. 
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25. Risk management 

 

Introduction 

 

Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing 

identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This 

process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability and each 

individual within the Group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to their 

responsibilities. The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risks. 

 

Risk management structure 

 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for 

approving risk strategies, principles and policies and procedures. Day to day adherence to 

risk principles is carried out by the executive management of the Group in compliance with 

the policies approved by the Board of Directors. 

 

Concentrations of risk 

 

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business 

activities, or activities in the same geographical region, or have economic features that 

would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes 

in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity 

of the Group’s results to developments affecting a particular industry. In order to avoid 

excessive concentrations of risk, the Group’s procedures include specific monitoring 

controls to focus on the maintenance of a diversified portfolio. 
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25. Risk management (continued) 
 

Currency risk 
 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 

changes in foreign exchange rates. Such exposure arises from sale or purchases by an 

operating unit in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency. Management 

monitors its exposure to foreign currency fluctuations which is mainly the US currency and 

employs appropriate strategies to mitigate any potential losses. 
 

The sensitivity to a possible change in the US dollar exchange rate, with all other variables 

held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax is as follows: 
 

  Change in US Effect on profit 

  dollar rates  before tax 

   $’000 
 

2023  5% increase (63) 

  5% decrease 63 
 

2022  5% increase (123) 

  5% decrease 123 
 

The aggregate value of financial assets and liabilities by reporting currency are as follows: 
 

Year ended 31 December 2023 TT US Total 

 $ $ $ 

ASSETS    

Cash and short term–deposits 76,026 1,798 77,824 

Investment securities 4,511 – 4,511 

Trade and other receivables   27,045         –   27,045 

 107,582  1,798 109,380 

LIABILITIES    

Lease liabilities 7,215 – 7,215 

Trade and other payables   20,304     545   20,849 

    27,519     545   28,064 

 

Net currency risk exposure   1,253  
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25. Risk management (continued) 

 

Currency risk (continued) 
 

Year ended 31 December 2022 TT US Total 

 $ $ $ 

ASSETS    

Cash and short term–deposits 74,905 1,086 75,991 

Investment securities 4,401 – 4,401 

Trade and other receivables   40,963         –   40,963 

 120,269  1,086 121,355 

LIABILITIES    

Lease liabilities 10,769 – 10,769 

Trade and other payables   18,711  3,544   22,255 

   29,480  3,544   33,024 

Net currency risk exposure  (2,458)  

 

Credit risk 

 

The Group considers its credit risk with trade debtors to be limited due to the large number 

of customers comprising the Group’s customer base. The Group grants credit based on 

evaluations of its customers’ financial situation, and continually monitors the exposure of 

potential losses from granting credit. The maximum exposure is equal to the carrying 

amount of trade and other receivables. 

 

With respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets which primarily comprises of 

cash and cash equivalents, the exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counter 

party. These deposits are placed with highly rated local financial institutions. 
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25. Risk management (continued) 

 

Credit risk (continued) 

 

The Group’s credit risk exposure is geographically concentrated in Trinidad and Tobago. 

The Group’s credit risk exposure by industry sector of its counterparties is as follows: 

 

Gross maximum exposure 

 2023 2022 

 $ $ 

 

Trade and other receivables (Gross) 34,388 48,613 

Cash and short–term deposits   77,824   75,991 

 

Total credit risk exposure 112,212 124,604 

 

Government and Government agencies 4,317 4,230 

Financial services sector 77,824 75,991 

Marketing sector 9,162 19,048 

Other   20,909   25,335 

 

 112,212 124,604 

 

Credit quality per category of financial asset 

 

The credit quality of the balances due from the Group's various counterparties are internally 

determined from an assessment of each counterparty based on a combination of factors. 
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25. Risk management (continued) 

 

Credit risk (continued) 

 

Credit quality per category of financial asset (continued) 

 

These factors include financial strength and the ability of the counterparty to service its 

debts, the stability of the industry or market in which it operates and its proven track record 

with the Group. The categories defined are as follows: 

 

Superior: This category includes balances due from Government and Government 

agencies and balances due from institutions that have been accorded the 

highest rating by an international rating agency or is considered to have 

the highest credit rating. These balances are considered risk free. 

 

Desirable: These are balances due from counterparties that are considered to have 

good financial strength and reputation. 

 

Acceptable: These are balances due from counterparties that are considered to have 

fair financial strength and reputation. 

 

Sub–standard: Balances that are impaired. 

 

The table below illustrates the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets as at 

31 December: 

 

    Sub- 

 Superior Desirable Acceptable standard Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

 

2023 5,799 77,824 21,247 7,342 112,212 
 

2022 5,762 75,991 35,201 7,650 124,604 
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25. Risk management (continued) 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligation under 

normal and stress circumstances. The Group monitors its liquidity risk by considering the 

maturity of both its financial investments and financial assets and projected cash flows 

from operations. Where possible the Group utilises surplus internal funds to a large extent 

to finance its operations and ongoing projects. However, the Group also utilises available 

credit facilities such as loans and other financing options where required. 

 

The table summarises the maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December based 

on undiscounted repayment obligations over the remaining life of those liabilities: 

 

  Within 

 On one 1 to 5 >5 

 demand year years years Total 

31 December 2023 $ $ $ $ $ 

 

Lease liabilities – 4,212 3,282 – 7,494 

Trade and 

  other payables      – 20,849        –       – 20,849 

      – 25,061 3,282       – 28,343 

 

31 December 2022      

 

Lease liabilities – 3,903 7,183 – 11,086 

Trade and 

  other payables      – 22,255        –       – 22,255 

      – 26,158 7,183       – 33,341 
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26. Capital management 

 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a 

strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise 

shareholder value. 

 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 

economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust 

dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No 

changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 

31 December 2023 or 31 December 2022. 

 

 

 


